PROPOSED CHARACTERIZATION OF POSH FUNCTION IN HUMAN T-CELL ACUTE LYMPHOBLASTIC LEUKEMIA

A Thesis

presented to

the Faculty of the Graduate School

at the University of Missouri-Columbia

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Sciences

by

BREANNA D. COLE

Dr. Mark A. Daniels, Thesis Advisor

MAY 2023

The undersigned faculty, appointed by the dean of the Graduate School, have examined the thesis entitled:

PROPOSED CHARACTERIZATION OF POSH FUNCTION IN HUMAN

T-CELL ACUTE LYMPHOBLASTIC LEUKEMIA

presented by Breanna D. Cole,

a candidate for the degree Master of Sciences and hereby certify that, in their opinion, it is worthy of acceptance.

Mark A. Daniels, Ph.D.

Margaret Lange-Osborn, Ph.D.

Adam Schrum, Ph.D.

DEDICATION

This thesis is in dedication to the teacher who made the biggest difference, Lance Kupka. I have been able to pursue my love of science and education because you advocated for me first.

I would also like to give recognition to the College of Saint Scholastica's McNair Scholars program advisors. My pursuit of graduate education was made possible due to your mentorship. I cannot thank you enough.

Lastly, I would like to take the opportunity to thank my family and friends for their endless support on my educational journey. Without you, I would not have been able to pursue these opportunities. I extend a special thank you to my immediate family for all of the sacrifices you made to prioritize my education. And to Ryan for always believing in

me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my mentor, Dr. Mark A. Daniels, for his support and guidance in my graduate education. I have learned so much and I am grateful for the opportunity to work with you. I would also like to thank the current and past members of the Daniels/Teixeiro lab for their support. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Margaret Lange-Osborn for acting as a second mentor and spending countless hours teaching me lab techniques. This provided a valuable asset in the Daniels lab. I would also like to thank Dr. Adam Schrum for his contributions as a member of my thesis committee. I appreciate the advice and the time you have spent in this role.

I would like to thank Mark Hannink, Sandra Gummersheimer, and Debbie Allen (retired) from the IMSD T32 Traineeship program and the Life Sciences Fellowship. Because of their support, I received several educational and professional opportunities to better myself as a scientist.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSii
LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF FIGURESvi
ABSTRACTvii
CHAPTER
1. INTRODUCTION1
1.1 <u>T</u> -cell <u>A</u> cute <u>Lymphoblastic Leukemia</u> (T-ALL)
1.2 Normal T-cell development & differentiation
1.3 Signaling activity in human T-ALL
1.4 Plenty of SH3s (POSH)
1.5 POSH's post-translational modifications (PTMs) and involvement
in cancer
1.6 POSH impacts the survival of human T-ALL
1.7 Pilot study
1.8 Research question
2. THE COMPOSITION OF THE POSH SCAFFOLDING COMPLEX IN
HUMAN T-ALL

2.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale

2.2 Proposed methodology
2.3 Expected results
2.4 Alternative outcomes
2.5 Rigor & reproducibility
3. PHOSPHOTYROSINE-BASED MODIFICATIONS
3.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale
3.2 Proposed methodology
3.3 Expected results
3.4 Alternative outcomes
3.5 Rigor & reproducibility
4. DETERMINING THE FUNCTION OF POSH IN HUMAN T-ALL VIA
CRISPR POSH-KO
4.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale
4.2 Proposed methodology
4.3 Expected results
4.4 Alternative outcomes
4.5 Rigor & reproducibility
5. POTENTIAL IMPACT OF PROPOSED RESEARCH
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table

1.	Mutations found in the selection human T-ALL cell lines	.17
2.	Chapter 2 experimental conditions	.20
3.	Chapter 3 experimental conditions	.32
4.	Validated guide sequences for POSH-KO	.38
5.	Chapter 4 experimental conditions	.41

LIST OF FIGURES

igure	
1. Normal T-cell development	3
2. Plenty of SH3s functional domains	8
3. The POSH scaffolding complex looks different depending on the type	Э
of normal T-cell	9
4. Competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain significantly	
decreases human T-ALL survival12	2
5. Lentivirus pseudotyped for VSV-G can infect monocytes and	
B-cells14	4
6. Pilot study performed in Jurkat cells2	5
7. Depiction of delivery of the construct to target human T-ALL cell	
lines for POSH-KO	9

PROPOSED CHARACTERIZATION OF POSH FUNCTION IN HUMAN T-CELL ACUTE LYMPHOBLASTIC LEUKEMIA

Breanna D. Cole

Dr. Mark A. Daniels, Thesis Advisor

ABSTRACT

<u>T</u>-cell <u>A</u>cute <u>Lymphoblastic Leukemia (T-ALL) is an aggressive malignancy that is characterized by leukemic T-cells that can express reduced T-cell markers (such as CD5, CD4, or CD8) reflecting their transformation from an early developmental state. These transformed immature cells can proliferate uncontrollably crowding out the mature, non-transformed, normal T-cells. This significantly weakens the immune response and contribute to escape by this cancer from immune surveillance. As treatment strategies have advanced over time, the 5-year overall survival rate has increased to 85% event-free, with the best treatment resulting in the pediatric population. However, relapsed patients have severely limited options for treatment since their disease is often resistant to standard treatments, such as chemotherapy. *There is an unmet clinical need to find new molecular targets/immunotherapies to prevent relapse and improve overall long-term survival*. The focus on the present work is to look at human T-ALL signaling pathways and mutations to identify crucial points for developing more effective therapeutic strategies for personalized treatments.</u>

In T-ALL, there can be several irregularities in MAPK signaling pathways and downstream products. An important question remains to be answered: is there a central

vii

factor that joins many of the molecules participating in dysregulated signaling? Plausible candidates for such a role involve scaffolding proteins, which are known to play a large part in regulating MAPK signaling pathways. In this proposed work, we addressed the proposed POSH function in human T-ALL.

Most studies investigating POSH function in normal T-cells have focused primarily on the composition of the scaffolding complex and its downstream effects. In contrast, few studies have focused on POSH function in leukemic T-cells or expanded on the theme of identifying possible regulators of the formation of the scaffolding complex. The primary research questions that should be investigated are (1) what is the composition and function of the POSH scaffolding complex between different human T-ALL cell lines; (2) how do PTMs on POSH impact the formation of the scaffolding complex; and (3) what is the function of full-length POSH in human T-ALL and how does it differ between different types of human T-ALL? In order to answer these questions, we propose to utilize CRISPR-Cas technology to (A) develop mutant human T-ALL cell lines targeting phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domains; and (B) develop POSH-KO human T-ALL cell lines. Additionally, we proposed to conduct these experiments on HBP-ALL, Jurkat, and MOLT-14 cell lines on the basis of having different cell surface expression markers, different sensitivities to the Tat-POSH inhibitor, as well as similarities and differences in mutations.

We anticipate the proposed research in this document would mark the beginning of the much-needed investigation of whether POSH or other types of markers can be used in personalized therapies for treating human T-ALL.

viii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 <u>T</u>-cell <u>A</u>cute <u>Lymphoblastic Leukemia (T-ALL)</u>

T-ALL is an aggressive malignancy that is characterized by leukemic T-cells that can express reduced T-cell markers (such as CD5, CD4, or CD8) reflecting their transformation from an early developmental state. These transformed immature cells can proliferate uncontrollably in the bone marrow and blood crowding out the mature non-transformed, normal T-cells¹⁻². This process can significantly weaken the immune response and contribute to escape by this cancer from immune surveillance¹.

As treatment strategies have advanced over time, the 5-year overall survival rate has increased to 85% event-free, with the best treatment results in the pediatric population in which this rare cancer most often occurs¹. However, relapsed patients have severely limited options for treatment since their disease is often resistant to standard glucocorticoids, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy¹. Adult patients who have relapsed typically have a lower chance of survival compared to children³⁻⁶. Currently, the most promising treatment strategy for adults who have relapsed is an allogeneic transplant. However, the survival outcome is only 40%⁶. *There is a significant unmet clinical need to identify new molecular targets/immunotherapies to prevent relapse and improve overall long-term survival.* The focus of the present work is to look at human T-ALL signaling pathways and mutations to identify crucial points for developing more effective therapeutic strategies for personalized treatments.

1.2 Normal T-cell development & differentiation

Normal T-cell development occurs in a small organ in the lymphatic system called the thymus⁷. Here, T-cells develop mature T-cell markers (CD3+, CD4+, CD8+, etc.) and undergo T-cell receptor (TCR) rearrangement⁸. If CD4+ CD8+ double-positive (DP) TCR^{low} cells do not bind to MHC after undergoing TCR rearrangement over the course of several days, they will die. In order to leave the thymus and circulate throughout the body, DP thymocytes must first undergo positive selection (depiction of this process shown in **Figure 1**). During positive selection, DP cells will bind to cortical epithelial cells that express high levels of class I and II major histocompatibility <u>c</u>omplex (MHC) molecules. This results in the cells receiving signals that promote survival and further progression of development as the cells migrate to the medulla. The MHC the DP cell binds will determine the T-cell markers the mature cell will express. For example, DP cells that bind to MHC class I result in single-positive (SP) CD8+ cell surface expression, while DP cells that bind to MHC class II result in SP CD4+ cell surface expression.

Negative selection occurs primarily at the cortical-medullary junction and is mediated by medullary epithelial cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and thymocytes. The primary goal of negative selection is to eliminate thymocytes through apoptosis if they possess high affinity to receptors for self. Cells that react moderately, and not too strongly, to the MHC/self-peptide complexes are allowed to exit into the periphery and finalize development⁹⁻¹⁰.



Figure 1. Normal T-cell development. DP cells will bind to cells presenting MHC. Binding to MHC class I results in CD8+ SP T-cells while binding to MHC class II results in CD4+ SP T-cells. Thymocytes that react too strongly to self peptide/MHC complexes undergo negative selection by apoptosis. Created with BioRender.

1.3 Signaling activity in human T-ALL

There are several signaling pathways that exhibit aberrant activation in human

T-ALL. A study performed by Perbellini et al. aimed to functionally characterize the

different signaling networks in human T-ALL and determine the differences between

various cell lines. They accomplished this by utilizing phospho-specific flow cytometric

techniques¹¹. The pathways they decided to investigate displayed previously known

aberrant activity in human T-ALL such as Akt, ERK1/2, JNK, NFκB, etc. Their phospho-specific flow cytometric techniques allowed them to observe the heterogeneity of signaling activation between three different human T-ALL cell lines: Jurkat, CEM, and MOLT-4. This heterogeneity is an important consideration that supports the idea that personalized targeted T-ALL therapy is what is needed to address this significant unmet clinical need¹¹ depending on which signaling networks are active in each selected human T-ALL. Below is a discussion on the specifics of aberrant activation in human T-ALL.

In order for the immune system to clear infections and tumors, signaling from T-cell activation and differentiation is critical¹². <u>M</u>itogen-<u>A</u>ctivated <u>P</u>rotein <u>K</u>inase (MAPK) signaling pathways, such as those involving c-Jun <u>N</u>-terminal <u>K</u>inase (JNK), regulate processes such as activation, proliferation, differentiation, and death in T-cells^{13,14}. JNK appears to play an oncogenic role in many cases of malignant lymphocytes¹⁵⁻¹⁷. Interestingly, inhibition of JNK activity in human T-ALL has been shown in some cases to lead to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis^{18,19}. Knowing this, the question remains of how JNK may play an oncogenic role in human T-ALL. It is currently understood that in a highly studied human T-ALL cell line, Jurkat cells, there is high basal phosphorylation of JNK, but there is no increase when stimulating with H_2O_2 , where kinase activation is favored^{11,20}. However, there is an increase in JNK phosphorylation when stimulating the CEM cell line with H_2O_2 . This indicates that JNK may have a divergent role contributing to human T-ALL progression that is dependent on the type of cell line¹¹.

Unregulated oncogenic activation of Ras signaling is a widespread event in human T-ALL^{21,22}. Since the Ras/MAPK signaling pathway is important for cell survival,

differentiation, growth, etc., several studies have implemented trials where they inhibit Ras function through farnesyltransferase inhibitors (FTIs)^{23,24} to determine if it leads to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis^{25,26}. Alonso-Alonso et al. tested the effect of inhibiting Ras activity with the FTI tipifarnib^{27,28} in 18 different human T-ALL cell lines. Although each of these human T-ALL cell lines have differences in mutations that contribute to signaling heterogeneity, the majority of these cell lines had a few similarities. For instance, most of the selected cell lines were sensitive to Ras inhibition, such as HBP-ALL, Jurkat, and MOLT-14. This suggests that there are other factors besides aberrant Ras/MAPK signaling contributing to the overall signaling heterogeneity in human T-ALL. When testing why some human T-ALL cell lines were more sensitive to tipifarnib treatment, Alonso-Alonso et al. observed that there was an increase in ERK activation in the tipifarnib-sensitive cell lines while tipifarnib-resistant cell lines had an increase in RelB expression²⁹. These results allowed the authors to look at other signaling pathways in addition to Ras/MAPK signaling.

Another pathway that is severely dysregulated in human T-ALL is the Neurogenic locus <u>notch</u> homolog protein <u>1</u> (NOTCH1) signaling pathway, which is normally important for T-cell development³⁰. In T-ALL, this dysregulated activity can be mainly attributed to activating mutations in the coding region of the NOTCH1 gene³¹. Such mutations were observed in over 60% of human T-ALL cases, while unmutated cases still showed upregulation of activated NOTCH1 expression. Aberrant activation of NOTCH signaling promotes leukemia by upregulating several pathways downstream such as the NFkB and P13K/Akt signaling pathways^{32,33}, inducing MYC transcription^{34,36}, which is important for anabolic cell growth³⁷.

The P13K/Akt signaling pathway is one of the most commonly dysregulated signaling pathways in human cancer overall, including T-ALL^{38,39}. This signaling is important for the regulation of cell survival and proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, etc. Aberrant activation of the P13K/Akt signaling pathway is often the result of inactivating mutations in the PTEN gene, which ablates its wild-type role as a negative regulator of the P13K/Akt signaling pathway^{38,40}. Additionally, oncogenic NOTCH1 signaling and increased kinase signaling contribute to dysregulated P13K/Akt signaling⁴¹. Knowing this, many researchers have performed studies to identify new therapeutic strategies that inhibit this pathway.

NFkB signaling activity is involved in a variety of immune contexts in T-cells. Although mutations in NFkB gene are not common^{41,42}, researchers monitor this pathway since it can be activated and largely impacted by P13K/Akt and NOTCH1 signaling activity⁴³. Oncogenic NOTCH1 signaling interacts with pathways that are important for the growth, survival, and proliferation of human T-ALL. An example of this is in relation to NOTCH1 signaling enhancing NFkB signaling. NOTCH1 accomplishes this by increasing NFkB expression and nuclear retention^{44,45}. This activation can promote either p52 or RelB transcription via IKK complex activation³³. Since NOTCH1 activation is upregulated in the majority of human T-ALL cases, many look at NFkB signaling activity to learn more about the progression of T-ALL. A study of primary human T-ALL samples showed high NFkB activity as well as a severe lack of growth of T-ALL after inhibiting NFkB activity³³. Due to these findings, many researchers in this field believe that targeting NFkB also appears to be an attractive therapeutic strategy for T-ALL⁴⁶.

The ERK1 signaling pathway is another signaling pathway that has been identified to be upregulated in human T-ALL¹¹. Interestingly, all of the cell lines Perbellini et al. tested for signaling activation in T-ALL displayed high basal phosphorylation of ERK1/2, with the Jurkat cell line being the highest. In H_2O_2 -modulated conditions, ERK1/2 phosphorylation increased in the Jurkat cell line. It is important to note that the ERK1/2 phosphorylation observed in the Jurkat cell line is much higher than what is observed in normal T-cells. Also, it was noted that all of the human T-ALL cell lines that were tipifarnib-sensitive exhibited an increase in ERK activation status, leading to the hypothesis that Ras and ERK1/2 activation could be linked in these cancers²⁹. This is interesting because it suggests a role between P13K/Akt and ERK signaling with human T-ALL function.

In summary, there are several signaling pathways that are highly dysregulated in human T-ALL that should be investigated in this proposed study. Further investigation allows for a better foundation for developing personalized therapeutic strategies in human T-ALL, which could provide help toward a currently unmet clinical need in the field.

1.4 <u>Plenty of SH</u>3s (POSH)

In T-ALL, there can be several irregularities in MAPK signaling pathways and downstream products. An important question remains to be answered: is there a central factor that joins many of the molecules participating in this dysregulated signaling? Plausible candidates for such a role could involve scaffolding proteins, which are known to play a large role in regulating MAPK signaling pathways^{47,48}. A scaffolding protein provides docking sites for multiple substrates/products of a signaling cascade where

molecules can assemble together. This allows for the signaling activity to localize at specific sites and contributes to pathway regulation⁴⁹. Specifically, the JNK signaling pathway has been demonstrated to be regulated by several scaffolding molecules such as the JNK-Interacting Protein 1 (JIP-1)⁵⁰, Plenty of SHs (POSH)⁵¹, β -arrestin-2⁵², Carma/Bcl10^{53,54}, etc. This document will address POSH function in human T-ALL.



Figure 2. Plenty of SH3s functional domains. Depiction of Plenty of SH3s (POSH) functional domains. POSH has four SH3 domains, a non-canonical Rac binding domain (RBD) and an N-terminal RING finger domain. Additionally, this model shows the location of modifiable tyrosine residues on POSH's SH3.1 and SH3.3 domains.

POSH is a scaffolding protein that features four SH3 domains, a non-canonical Rac binding domain (RBD), and an N-terminal RING finger domain (depiction of POSH's functional domains is represented in **Figure 2**). Upon discovery, POSH was demonstrated to utilize GTPase, Rac1, for JNK and NFkB activation as well as contribute to apoptosis activity when overexpressed in fibroblasts⁵¹. Since then, the Daniels lab has performed extensive research characterizing the function of POSH in normal T-cells. For example, they have demonstrated that POSH and JIP-1 association induces TCR-mediated JNK activation in normal CD8+ T-cells. When this multiprotein complex was disrupted, defects in proliferation, decreased cytokine expression, and the inability to clear tumors was observed in these cells⁵⁵. However, in normal CD4+ T-cells, POSH appears to function quite differently. For instance, disruption of the POSH scaffolding complex led to decreased survival and loss of Tak-1-mediated activation of JNK1 and JNK2⁵⁶.



Figure 3. The POSH scaffolding complex looks different depending on the type of T-cell. Model depicting the arrangement of the POSH scaffolding complex between normal CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells. CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in the presence of IL-2. Subsequently, they were administered the Tat-POSH inhibitor and then lysed. Immunoprecipitation by flow cytometry (IP-FCM) was performed using carboxylatemodified latex (CML) beads coated with either anti-POSH (YY-5) or anti-JIP-1 (2J8) to determine the protein-to-protein interactions of the POSH scaffolding complex.

Differences in POSH function depending on the type of normal T-cell also resulted in different compositions of the POSH scaffolding complex (model depiction of POSH's scaffolding complexes represented in **Figure 3**). In normal CD8+ T-cells, the POSH scaffolding complex contains Rac1, MLK3, JIP-1, MKK7, and JNK1. When performing Tat-POSH-based competitive inhibition of the POSH SH3.3 domain, this resulted in the loss of JIP-1 which suggested the arrangement of the POSH scaffolding complex in normal CD8+ T-cells displayed in **Figure 3**. However, in normal CD4+ T-cells, the POSH scaffolding complex contains Rac2, Tak-1, MKK7, JIP-1, JNK1, and JNK2. When performing competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain with the Tat-POSH inhibitor, Tak-1 was lost resulting in the suggested arrangement of the POSH scaffolding complex in normal CD4+ T-cells (**Figure 3**).

As a result of these observations, the Daniels lab asked another question: what is causing POSH's divergent function depending on the type of normal T-cell?

1.5 POSH's <u>post-translational modifications</u> (PTMs) and involvement in cancer

The Daniels lab hypothesized that POSH exhibits divergent function depending on the normal type of T-cell due to differential PTMs. The rationale for this hypothesis is in reference to a study where Akt-based phosphorylation on POSH's RBD prevented Rac from binding^{57,58} which contributed to changes in the composition of the scaffolding complex. Additionally, there are five tyrosine residues within the POSH/JIP-1 binding sites⁵⁹ that can be subjected to phosphorylation (specific residues represented in **Figure 2**).

To test this hypothesis, normal CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells were lysed and precipitated with anti-POSH and anti-phosphotyrosine (4G10) antibodies (Abs). Interestingly, a significant increase in phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH

was observed in normal CD8+ T-cells that were not observed in normal CD4+ T-cells. This indicates that the PTMs of the tyrosine residues identified in the POSH/JIP-1 binding sites contributed to some of the differences in POSH function between different types of normal T-cells⁵⁶. For example, PTMs on POSH in normal CD8+ T-cells could contribute to higher binding affinity of JIP-1 to POSH's SH3.3 domain resulting in JNK1 activation. However, the absence of PTMs on POSH in normal CD4+ T-cells could have resulted in Tak-1 having a higher binding affinity which contributed to JNK1 and JNK2 activation.

In addition to phosphotyrosine-based modifications on the functional domains of POSH, POSH also has phosphoserine-based modifications on the RBD (serine residue 304) through Akt phosphorylation⁵⁹. This phosphorylation on POSH prevented activated Rac to bind to the RBD which identified a mechanism where Akt promotes cell survival and regulates apoptotic activity⁵⁹. Given this nature, this residue would also be of interest to investigate how these PTMs contribute to POSH function in human T-ALL.

In addition to POSH's demonstrated functional properties in normal T-cells, POSH has been shown to be involved in other types of cancer. For example, in breast cancer cells, phosphorylation on POSH has been demonstrated to be involved in regulating apoptosis through its association with Akt⁵⁸. In prostate cancer, POSH has been shown to be upregulated as well as interact with E3 ubiquitin ligase, Siah2, to reduce caspase activity in response to death ligands⁶⁰⁻⁶³.

Considering everything that has been established about POSH's function in regard to normal T-cells, PTMs, and cancer, the Daniels lab wanted to determine how POSH functions in leukemic T-cells.

1.6 POSH impacts the survival of human T-ALL

The Daniels lab has previously demonstrated that POSH is important for T-cell signaling, survival, and effector function through its interaction with the JNK signaling pathway^{55,56} thus impacting the composition of the scaffolding complex. Differences in the composition of the scaffolding complex correlate with different levels of phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3 domains in normal T-cells (**Figures 2 & 3**). Since the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex is largely influenced by signaling cascade members associating with POSH's SH3 domains, the Daniels lab investigated the functional consequence of competitive inhibition on POSH's SH3.3 domain in regard to human T-ALL survival. To accomplish this, they used their novel Tat-POSH inhibitor via HIV Tat protein domain that carries an identical sequence to POSH SH3.3 (**Figure 4**). Various human T-ALL cell lines were treated with the Tat-POSH inhibitor or Tat-Scrambled (as a control). This resulted in the



Figure 4. Competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain significantly decreases human T-ALL survival. The Tat-POSH inhibitor was administered to various human T-ALL cell lines. The percentage of the live Tat-POSH-treated T-ALL cells compared to Tat-Scrambled-treated (control) T-ALL cells was calculated. Cell surface expression markers (such as CD4 and CD8) are also notated through color.

Tat-POSH-treated human T-ALL cell lines having a similar overall outcome–*competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain significantly decreases human T-ALL survival.*

However, each Tat-POSH-treated human T-ALL cell line was differently sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain. Surprisingly, these differences did not correlate with different cell surface expression markers (eg. CD4+ or CD8+). Although it is formally possible that these observations could be due to failure of an effective dose of the Tat-POSH inhibitor to penetrate the T-ALL cell lines, we feel this is unlikely. When performing the same experiment on various human B-ALL cell lines assessed by flow cytometry, the levels of detected fluorescently labeled Tat-POSH were clearly positive and comparable between each cell line (data not shown).

Overall, the data presented here led to the following questions: (1) why are there differences in sensitivity to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain between the human T-ALL cell lines; and (2) are there differences in the composition and function of the POSH scaffolding complex between different human T-ALLs?

1.7 Pilot study

One of the ways I propose to test the functional characteristics of POSH between different human T-ALL cell lines is through the development of POSH mutant and POSH knockout (KO) cell lines. I propose to implement this through CRISPR-Cas technology. To accomplish this, a lentivirus for vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G) to deliver the construct to the target human T-ALL cells should be used. To ensure the system would successfully infect a wide variety of cell types, various human cell lines were transduced with this lentivirus. As shown in **Figure 5** via GFP expression, the selected cell lines

were successfully targeted, one of which is a leukemic cell line. Additionally, the same experiment was performed on Jurkat cells and they also became GFP+ (data not shown). Given this data, I am confident this type of methodology can be used to develop POSH mutant T-ALL cell lines.



Figure 6. Pilot study performed in Jurkat cells. HEK293FT cells were transfected with the parent vector carrying the POSH-KO guide sequence, an envelope plasmid, and a packaging plasmid. The parent vector features a GFP reporter gene for selection. After 48 hours, the media of the producer cells containing the virus is collected and administered to Jurkat T-ALL cells. GFP expression is represented on the x-axis. Left: Jurkat Negative Control (no vector); Middle: Jurkat 72 hours post-transduction; Right: Jurkat 2 weeks post-transduction.

In support of the previously mentioned data, a pilot study was performed on Jurkat cells using validated guide sequences obtained from the GeCKO library⁶⁴. For a POSH-KO to ensure the human T-ALL cell lines will survive long enough to perform the outlined functional *in vitro* assays (specific details on the methodology are outlined in **Chapter 4, Figure 7**). The parent vector used (lentiCRISPRv2+GFP) features a GFP reporter gene as a selectable marker for delivery. GFP expression was sought to observe the delivery and survival via LIVE/DEAD Aqua stain at 72-hour and 2-week time points. As shown in **Figure 6**, the targeted Jurkat cells remained viable and GFP+ over the time course (LIVE/DEAD Aqua stain data not shown). Given the results of the pilot study, I am confident that it is possible to perform the outlined methodology in **Chapter 4** to develop POSH mutant and KO T-ALL cell lines.

1.8 Research question

The vast majority of studies investigating POSH function in normal T-cells have focused primarily on determining the composition of the scaffolding complex and its downstream effects. In contrast, few studies have focused on POSH function in leukemic T-cells or expanded on the theme of identifying possible regulators of the formation of the scaffolding complex. The primary research questions that I propose should be investigated are (1) what is the composition and function of the POSH scaffolding complex between different human T-ALL cell lines; (2) how do PTMs on POSH impact the formation of the scaffolding complex; and (3) what is the function of full-length POSH in human T-ALL and how does it differ between each type of cell line? In order to answer these questions, I propose to utilize CRISPR-Cas technology to (A) develop mutant human T-ALL cell lines targeting phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain; and (B) develop POSH-KO human T-ALL cell lines.

I propose to conduct the outlined experiments on HBP-ALL (CD3+CD4+CD8+), Jurkat (CD3+CD4+CD8-), and MOLT-14 (CD3+CD4-CD8-) cell lines. These cell lines have been selected to represent the different levels of sensitivity to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain via Tat-POSH. HBP-ALL was the most sensitive, Jurkat was moderately sensitive, and MOLT-14 was the least sensitive. As shown in **Figure 4**, differences in sensitivity to the Tat-POSH inhibitor did not correlate with cell surface expression markers such as CD4 or CD8. This is an important observation because it eliminates the possibility that different types of human T-ALL (notated by cell surface expression markers) are the reason some T-ALL cell lines are more sensitive to treatment with the Tat-POSH inhibitor than others.

It is worth noting that the selected human T-ALL cell lines have similarities and differences in mutations (**Table 1**). For example, MOLT-14 and HBP-ALL share a mutation in the same residue of the TP53 gene (important for cell cycle regulation and tumor suppression) which was previously shown to be involved in tumorigenesis in hematologic malignancies such as lymphocytic leukemias⁶⁵. Although these cell lines are mutated on the same residue, the outcome is different with MOLT-14 having an Arg273His TP53 mutation and HBP-ALL having an Arg273Cys TP53 mutation.

Each of the selected human T-ALL cell lines has one mutation in the <u>F-box</u> and <u>WD</u> repeat domain containing <u>7</u> (FBXW7) gene which is a common tumor suppressor in human cancers⁶⁶. Interestingly, MOLT-14 and HBP-ALL have the same Arg465His FBXW7 mutation while the Jurkat cell line has an Arg505Cys mutation. Since MOLT-14 and HBP-ALL are on opposite ends of the spectrum for sensitivity to treatment with the Tat-POSH inhibitor, the Arg465His FBXW7 mutation is unlikely to impact this phenomenon.

In addition to being a tumor suppressor for several human cancers, FBXW7 is a negative regulator of NOTCH1, which is involved in normal T-cell development and differentiation⁶⁷. HBP-ALL has two mutations on the NOTCH1 gene (Leu1574Pro & Asp2442fs*39) and Jurkat has one (Arg162His). These cell lines are more sensitive to treatment with the Tat-POSH inhibitor than the MOLT-14 cell line, which has no mutations in the NOTCH1 gene. This indicates that these mutations in NOTCH1 might

be involved in human T-ALL survival when POSH's SH3.3 domain is competitively inhibited.

Lastly, an important factor to consider is that HBP-ALL and Jurkats are the only selected human T-ALL cell lines with a mutation in the PTEN gene⁶⁸. This might be a reason why these cell lines are more sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain because PTEN is a tumor suppressor gene that antagonizes the P13K-Akt signaling pathway (which is important for cell proliferation and survival). When the PTEN gene is mutated, the P13K-Akt signaling pathway increases its activity which could cause unregulated G1/S phase cell cycle progression⁶⁹.

Gene	HBP-ALL	Jurkat	MOLT-14
FBXW7	Arg465His (unspecified)	Arg505Cys (het)	Arg465His (het)
HRAS	Ala134Ser (unspecified)	0	0
NOTCH1	Leu1574Pro (het) Asp2442fs*39 (het)	Arg1627His (het)	0
PTEN	Arg159Ser (unspecified)	0	0
TP53	Cys124Ter (hom) Arg273Cys (unspecified)	Arg196Ter (het)	Arg213Ter (het) Arg273His (het)
WT1	Ser121Ter (unspecified)	0	0
BAX	0	Glu41Glyfs*33 (het) Glu41Argfs*19 (het)	0
INPP5D	0	Gln345Ter (het) c.1097+10651097+11 12del47 (het)	0
MSH2	0	Arg711Ter (hom)	0
MSH6	0	Phe1088Serfs*2 (hom)	0
NRAS	0	0	Gly12Asp (het)

Table 1. Mutations found in selectedhuman T-ALL cell lines. Represented arethe number and type of mutations found ineach of the selected human T-ALL cell lines(HBP-ALL, Jurkat, MOLT-14). Hetabbreviation stands for heterozygous for themutation. Hom abbreviation stands forhomozygous for the mutation. Thisinformation was accessed at Cellosaurusthrough the Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics.

Overall, HBP-ALL, Jurkat, and MOLT-14 cell lines have been selected on the basis of having different cell surface expression markers, different sensitivities to the Tat-POSH inhibitor, as well as similarities and differences in mutations. This will allow for the chance to determine if any of those factors are also involved in the role POSH serves in human T-ALL. It is anticipated that this proposed study will allow researchers to further understand the biological relevance of the potential findings.

CHAPTER 2

THE COMPOSITION OF THE POSH SCAFFOLDING COMPLEX IN HUMAN T-ALL

2.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale

Knowing the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex is vital for understanding the mechanism by which POSH activates downstream signaling pathways. The composition of the POSH scaffolding complex has been determined in various types of cells including normal T-cells. However, it has yet to be determined what the scaffolding complex looks like in various types of human T-ALL cell lines where signaling activity is severely dysregulated. An important question remains to be answered: how does the POSH scaffolding complex assemble and what is its function in human T-ALL?

I hypothesize that the POSH scaffolding complex will differ depending on the type of human T-ALL cell line. Additionally, POSH is expected to continue to associate with signaling cascade members such as a JNK, an MKK, a Rac, JIP-1, Tak-1, or Akt proteins because POSH has previously been shown to interact with these signaling cascade members in various types of other cells including normal T-cells^{55,56}. It is expected that the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex will be different depending on the type of human T-ALL cell line because several studies have determined that different signaling pathways are activated depending on the type of human T-ALL

cell lines¹¹. Addititionally, the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex assembles differently depending on which type of normal T-cell^{55,56}.

2.2 Proposed methodology

2.2.A Co-immunoprecipitation by flow cytometry (IP-FCM)

In order to determine the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex between different types of human T-ALL cell lines, each selected cell line will be treated with Tat-POSH or Tat-Control and then subsequently lysed. To pull down the POSH scaffolding complex, carboxylate-modified latex (CML) beads coated with C-terminus-binding POSH E1 monoclonal antibody (mAb) will be used. When the pulldown is complete, samples will be incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated Abs probing for signaling cascade proteins that are known to be candidates to form complexes with POSH. These will include but are not limited to JNK1, JNK2, MKK4, MKK7, MLK3, JIP-1, Tak-1, Akt, MEKK1, Rac-1, Rac-2, etc. To ensure there are similar amounts of POSH in each co-IP assay, POSH mAb will be used as a probe in parallel. Each antigen will be normalized to the detected level of POSH. To determine the background binding of the mAbs to the CML beads, proteins that are known not to be in complex with POSH (such as ERK1) will be probed.

Negative Control	Experimental Condition	
Tat-Control-treated human T-ALL	Tat-POSH-treated human T-ALL	

Table 2. Chapter 2 experimental conditi

2.2.B Functional analysis of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL

I propose to perform various functional in vitro assays after treatment with Tat-POSH or Tat-Control to characterize the impact that the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex has on human T-ALL signaling activity and function. To determine how the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex influences proliferation in each selected human T-ALL cell line, CFSE labeling will be performed. The progress of proliferation will be monitored by observing the dilution of the dye in the membrane of the dividing T-ALL cells. To determine how the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex contributes to the activation of various signaling pathways in T-ALL, immunoblots will be performed to determine the levels of phosphorylated JNK1/2 (p-JNK1/2), p-p38, p-NFkB, p-MKK7, p-Akt, and p-ERK1. As an additional indicator of signaling activation, various transcription factor activity assays will be performed to determine the levels of activated c-Jun, NFkB p52 (regulation of cell proliferation), and NF κ B Rel⁷⁰. To determine how the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex contribute to apoptosis activity in each selected human T-ALL cell line, immunoblot analyses will be performed to determine the levels of pro-apoptotic (Nim, Puma, Noxa) and anti-apoptotic (Mcl-2, Bcl2) markers. Additionally, the amount of caspase 3/7 will be measured. Since cell cycle entry is highly dysregulated in human T-ALL, it would be insightful to determine if this is correlated with certain compositions of the POSH scaffolding complex. To determine this, the percentage of Ki67+ T-ALL cells will be detected using flow cytometric techniques. Experimental conditions are outlined in Table 2.

2.2.C Determine PTMs on POSH's functional domains between the selected human T-ALL cell lines

In normal T-cells, the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex assembled differently and correlated with differential phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.1 and SH3.3 domains in normal CD8+ T-cells. It would be interesting to determine if there are differences between each selected human T-ALL cell line that correlate with these types of modifications as well. To answer this question, each selected human T-ALL cell line will be harvested, lysed, and then given a phospho-POSH mAb to perform a subsequent immunoblot. This methodology will allow for the ability to see general differences in phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH between each of the selected human T-ALL cell lines (if any exist). A significant limitiation of this technique is that it will not determine the exact locations of these modifications. To overcome this limitation, mass spectrometry should be performed.

2.3 Expected results

2.3.A General

The data that will be collected will provide information on how the POSH scaffolding complex is formed between different human T-ALL cell lines. Generally, it is expected that POSH will associate with a JNK, a Rac, an MKK, JIP-1, Tak-1, or Akt proteins since these proteins have associated with POSH in normal T-cells^{55,56}. As justification for this idea, there is aberrant MAPK/ERK and P13K/Akt signaling in human T-ALL¹¹. Additionally, I hypothesize that each selected human T-ALL cell line may have different mechanisms of signaling activation that will be demonstrated through

different compositions of the POSH scaffolding complex. I further hypothesize that cell lines with a similar composition of the POSH scaffolding complex may have similar results in the functional *in vitro* assays described in the methodology.

If the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex leads to the activation of signaling pathways that promote proliferation, there should be an observed decrease in the dilution of the dye (meaning greater dye retention due to less mitosis) in the membrane of the dividing human T-ALL cells treated with Tat-POSH compared to the Tat-Control-treated samples when performing CFSE labeling. To determine which signaling cascade pathways are activated through the formation of the POSH scaffolding complex, there might be decreased protein expression or signaling-activated protein in the performed immunoblots in the Tat-POSH-treated samples compared to the Tat-Control-treated samples. The same logic will be applied to the results of the transcription factor activity assays. To determine if the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex is activating pathways important for regulating apoptosis activity, there should be an observed decrease in the expression or pro-apoptotic and/or anti-apoptotic markers as well as a decrease in the detected caspase 3/7 in the Tat-POSH-treated samples compared to the Tat-Control-treated samples. Lastly, if the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex is important for activating pathways regulating cell cycle entry, then there might be a decrease in the percentage of Ki67+ cells in the Tat-POSH-treated samples compared to the Tat-Control-treated samples.

Phosphotyrosine-based modifications of POSH appear to correlate with differences in the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex and downstream signaling activation in normal T-cells^{55,56}. Due to this observation, I hypothesize that there

will be differences in the level of phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's functional domains between each selected human T-ALL cell line.

2.3.B HBP-ALL

As described above, the HBP-ALL cell line has several mutations that may help anticipate what might be observed in the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex as well as the results of the functional *in vitro* assays outlined in the *2.2 Proposed methodology* section. Perhaps the most notable mutation is the Arg159Ser mutation on the PTEN gene, which is a negative regulator of the P13K/Akt signaling pathway. Inactivating mutations on the PTEN gene in human T-ALL have been demonstrated to contribute to aberrant P13K/Akt signaling^{38,39}. This leads me to hypothesize that HBP-ALL will have the highest P13K/Akt signaling activity compared to the other selected human T-ALL cell lines since HBP-ALL has an inactivating mutation on PTEN and was more sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain. If this hypothesis is true, it should be evident in decreased detected p-Akt in the Tat-POSH-treated HBP-ALL samples.

Interestingly, oncogenic NOTCH1 signaling and increased kinase signaling also contribute to aberrant P13K/Akt signaling⁴¹. HBP-ALL has two mutations in the NOTCH1 gene: Leu1574Pro and Asp2442fs*39 (more than the other selected human T-ALL cell lines). In addition to mutations in the NOTCH1 gene, there is also an Arg465His mutation in the FBXW7 gene, which is a negative regulator of NOTCH1 activity. Oncogenic NOTCH1 signaling also contributes to direct NFκB activation. There are several mechanisms of NFκB activation. It is expected that there will be a decrease in NFκB RelB activity²⁹. In support of this, a study looking at transcription factor activity in

100 blood cell cancer cell lines showed that HBP-ALL also had lower RelB activity⁷¹. However, RelA had significantly higher activity in HBP-ALL indicating alternative NFκB activity⁷¹. Another trait of tipifarnib-sensitive human T-ALL cell lines, such as HBP-ALL, is higher activation of ERK1 signaling²⁹. Since POSH hasn't been known to interact with ERK-1 in other cells, there should be no change in the detected level of p-ERK1 between the Tat-Control- and Tat-POSH-treated HBP-ALL samples.

Regarding the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in HBP-ALL, I hypothesize that because HBP-ALL is CD3+CD4+CD8+, there will be JNK1 activation through JIP-1 binding because normal CD8+ T-cells had JIP-1-dependent activation of JNK1^{55,56}. I anticipate that the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL will activate pathways that are important for proliferation, cell survival, cell cycle entry, etc. Additionally, because there is CD8+ cell surface expression on HBP-ALL, it is hypothesized that HBP-ALL may have phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's functional domains because this occurred in normal CD8+ T-cells⁵⁶.

Overall, the HBP-ALL cell line offers a unique opportunity to examine the impact that inactivating mutations on PTEN, NOTCH1, FBXW7, as well as high Tat-POSH inhibitor sensitivity has on the function of POSH within this cell line.

2.3.C Jurkat

The Jurkat cell line is CD3+CD4+CD8- and is moderately sensitive to treatment with the Tat-POSH inhibitor. In regard to PTMs, it is hypothesized that the Jurkat cell line may have little to none phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's functional domains because of the CD4+ cell surface expression on this cell line. Due to this, it is hypothesized that POSH may participate in Tak-1-dependent activation of JNK1/2

because this occurs in normal CD4+ T-cells⁵⁶. On the same basis, it is possible that the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in Jurkat will activate pathways that are important for cell survival, but not have an impact on cell cycle entry⁵⁶. This might be demonstrated through the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex as well as observing no changes in Ki67+ T-ALL cells between Tat-POSH- and Tat-Control-treated samples. In support for the JNK signaling pathway activation, it has been demonstrated by phospho-specific flow cytometric techniques that the Jurkat cell line has higher basal phosphorylation on JNK than in normal T-cells¹¹.

The Jurkat cell line has a few mutations that may give insight into which signaling pathways are to be activated through POSH's scaffolding function. The most notable mutations are the Arg505Cys mutation on the FBXW7 gene and the Arg1672His mutation on the NOTCH1 gene. These mutations indicate that there will be aberrant NOTCH1 signaling which would potentially contribute to an increase in P13K/Akt and NF κ B signaling activation. In support of this, the Jurkat cell line has higher basal phosphorylation on Akt¹¹. Jurkats are also tipifarnib-sensitive which means that NF κ B activity will not be through RelB²⁹ and it is unlikely that NF κ B activity will be through RelA since this was downregulated⁷¹ in Jurkats. Even so, due to the aberrant signaling of NOTCH1, it is still expected that there will be NF κ B activity. It is possible that this may be through other mechanisms such as p52. Lastly, because of tipifarnib sensitivity, Jurkats are also expected to have relatively high amounts of detected p-ERK1 in the signaling activation immunoblots, indicating high ERK1 signaling activity. However,

should be no difference in the amount of detected p-ERK1 between the Tat-Control- and Tat-POSH-treated samples.

2.3.D MOLT-14

The MOLT-14 cell line is CD3+CD4-CD8- and the least sensitive to treatment from the Tat-POSH inhibitor. Unfortunately, this cell line also has the least amount of preliminary studies performed on it making it difficult to predict how the POSH scaffolding complex will assemble contributing to signaling activation and functions. Even so, I hypothesize that MOLT-14 will have few (if any) phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's functional domains due to no CD8+ cell surface expression. It is possible that POSH will activate the JNK signaling pathway through Tak-1 (like CD4+ T-cells) or through another mechanism that has yet to be determined.

Although there have not been a lot of preliminary studies performed on MOLT-14, mutations may give insight as to what signaling activity may occur in this cell line. For example, MOLT-14 has an Arg465His mutation on the FBXW7 gene but no mutation in the NOTCH1 gene. This indicates that perhaps there will be some increase in NF κ B activity, but not as much as the Jurkat or HBP-ALL cell lines. MOLT-14 is also tipifarnib-sensitive²⁹, so it is expected that if there is NF κ B activity, it might be activated through a different mechanism than RelB such as p52. It is also possible that MOLT-14 may have the lowest detected NF κ B activity because of these mutations. MOLT-14 should have relatively high ERK1 activity due to the tipifarnib sensitivity²⁹ but there should be no differences in p-ERK1 activation between Tat-Control- and Tat-POSH-treated samples since this protein has not previously associated with POSH. Since MOLT-14 is the least sensitive to treatment with the Tat-POSH inhibitor, I anticipate that POSH in the MOLT-14 cell line may prioritize activating pathways that are not related to cell survival, proliferation, etc. This may be demonstrated by MOLT-14 having the lowest activation of pathways such as Akt as well as no significant differences in the CFSE labeling between Tat-POSH- or Tat-Control-treated MOLT-14 samples.

2.4 Alternative outcomes

The Daniels lab has successfully determined the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in normal T-cells^{55,56} so it is unlikely that there will be issues in performing the outlined methodology in this chapter. However, it is possible that it will be difficult to properly detect the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex through IP-FCM. If this occurs, I suggest performing a co-IP assay through immunoblotting techniques. It is also possible that the protein-antibody complexes will not stay intact depending on where the Ab binds. To circumvent this, there are other POSH mAbs that can be utilized. If there are difficulties with detecting POSH or other proteins known to be in complex with POSH due to their epitopes being hidden within the scaffolding complex, several antibodies probing for the same protein will be administered in a cocktail.

A significant potential problem is there might not be any differences between the Tat-POSH- and Tat-Control-treated conditions while performing the outlined functional *in vitro* assays. An <u>alternative hypothesis</u> is that the POSH scaffolding complex is formed by other means than the POSH SH3.3 domain. To test this hypothesis, other Tat-POSH inhibitors will be developed to target the other SH3 domains to get a more complete

understanding of the formation of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL. Additionally, it is possible there will not be significant differences between the selected human T-ALL cell lines. If this occurs, there is a diverse repertoire of human T-ALL cell lines featured in **Figure 4** that can be used for the outlined methodology to answer the experimental question of this chapter.

Lastly, it is possible there might not be differences in the phosphorylation-based modifications on POSH's functional domains between each selected human T-ALL cell line, but there are differences in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays. If this is evident, an <u>alternative hypothesis</u> is that other factors are contributing to the differences in the functional *in vitro* assays such as phosphoserine-based modifications⁵⁸.

2.5 Rigor & reproducibility

Each experiment will be replicated in triplicate to ensure the results of the outlined functional *in vitro* assays in this chapter are accurate. To determine the statistical significance between the Tat-POSH- and Tat-Control-treated conditions between two selected human T-ALL cell lines, a two-way Student's t-test will be performed. Some results may be normalized to the Tat-Control-treated conditions. To determine the differences between all selected human T-ALL cell lines tested together, a two-way ANOVA test followed by a Tukey post-hoc test will be performed. All statistical analyses will be performed using Prism GraphPad and I will consider a p-value less than 0.05 to be statistically significant.

CHAPTER 3

PHOSPHOTYROSINE-BASED MODIFICATIONS ON POSH

3.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale

In human T-ALL, empirical evidence is lacking that would indicate what is regulating the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL. Interestingly, in Figure 4, each of the human T-ALL cell lines that were subjected to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain were differently sensitive. This indicates that POSH might provide a different function in each of these cell lines by activating different pathways. I hypothesize that phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain regulate the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex by determining which signaling cascade members bind to POSH, contributing to the downstream signaling pathway that becomes activated. As a basis for this hypothesis, previous studies have demonstrated that phosphorylation-based modifications on POSH impact downstream signaling pathway activation in non-T-ALL cells. For example, phosphorylation by Akt on the RBD of POSH prevents Rac from binding to POSH^{50,51} thus contributing to changes in the composition of the scaffolding complex. Another study has identified five tyrosine residues on POSH's SH3.1 and SH3.3 domains that can be subjected to phosphorylation within the POSH/JIP-1 binding sites^{50,51}. Additionally, the Daniels lab has demonstrated that the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex is different depending on the normal T-cell type. This correlated with differential

phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH that were specific to normal CD8+ T-cells⁴⁸.

3.2 Proposed methodology

3.2.A Prime editing

To understand the role of phosphotyrosine-based modifications on the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex and processes occurring in human T-ALL, residues Y-457, Y-461, and Y-463 on POSH's SH3.3 domain will be replaced with either phenylalanine or histidine residues through CRISPR prime editing (PE). PE is an editing technique that is used to edit sequences without making a double-stranded break (DSB). Rather than using Cas9 for editing, PE uses Cas9 nickase fused to a reverse transcriptase so it does not generate DSBs⁷².

To design the PE experiment, decisions on the pegRNA design, PE system, selection of PE architecture and installation of silent mutations will be made through the guidance of Doman et. al⁷³. The mode of delivery that I propose is a lentiviral vector as it would be similar to what was performed in the pilot study (**Figure 6**). Plasmids for this proposed experiment should include a plasmid carrying the prime editor, an epegRNA cloning vector, an sgRNA cloning vector, and other plasmids for the sgRNA preparation. Additionally, it would be important to tell the difference in the successfully targeted T-ALL cells between the modified POSH protein and WT POSH protein. In order to do this, I suggest selecting a lentiviral vector with a FLAG-TAG on it.

To achieve efficient delivery of the PE materials, the plasmids will be transfected into HEK293FT producer cells. The cell culture media containing the virus will be

collected 48 hours post-transfection and then subsequently delivered to the target human T-ALL cell lines. The successfully targeted cells will undergo selection and then undergo single-cell expansion. After single-cell expansion, the genomic DNA will be isolated. Sanger sequencing and a Tracking of Indels by DEcomposition (TIDE) analysis will be performed for each of the isolates to determine if there was a successful modification to the genomic DNA. To confirm the genetic modifications at the protein level, an immunoblot probing for POSH and phosphotyrosine-based modifications (4G10) will be performed. To determine if homozygous-modified human T-ALL cells are dying (if POSH is essential for survival in some of the selected human T-ALL cell lines), the genomic DNA will be isolated 24 hours post-transduction, and TIDE analysis will be performed and compared with the single-isolates data to determine the differences in populations.

3.2.B Functional analysis of POSH-mutant T-ALL cell lines

The same functional *in vitro* assays outlined in **Chapter 2** will be performed to determine the impact that phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain have on POSH function in human T-ALL. The experimental conditions are outlined in **Table 3**.

Negative Control	Experimental Condition
Tat-Control-treated human T-ALL	Tat-POSH-treated human T-ALL
Tat-Control-treated POSH-modified (Phe) human T-ALL	Tat-POSH-treated POSH-modified (Phe) human T-ALL
Tat-Control-treated POSH-modified (His) human T-ALL	Tat-POSH-treated POSH-modified (His) human T-ALL

Table 3. Chapter 3 experimental conditions.

3.3 Expected results

3.3.A General

The data that will be collected will provide information on how phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH regulate the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex and signaling activity in human T-ALL. It is expected that the successfully targeted human T-ALL cell lines will either be heterozygous or homozygous for the mutation. The human T-ALL cell lines that are homozygous for the mutation should not be capable of producing the specifically targeted phosphotyrosine-based modifications. This will provide the opportunity to determine the impact of specific phosphotyrosine-based modifications being absent on POSH's functional domains. The human T-ALL cell lines that are heterozygous for the mutation may have decreased phosphotyrosine-based modifications compared to the WT human T-ALL cell lines. These cell lines may also provide information on the effect of decreasing gene dose for a specific phosphorylatable residue. If both heterozygous and homozygous cells are available, both will be used for the outlined experiments in this chapter.

If phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain contribute to changes in its binding affinity for certain client proteins, it is expected that there should be differences demonstrated in the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in the POSH-modified human T-ALL cell lines compared to the POSH-WT human T-ALL cell lines. Differences in the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex should exhibit differences in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays between POSH-modified and POSH-WT human T-ALL cell lines.

I hypothesize decreased JIP-1 binding in the POSH-modified human T-ALL cell lines since higher levels of phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain correlated with JIP-1 binding to POSH in normal T-cells⁵⁶. Additionally, it is hypothesized that POSH-modified human T-ALL cell lines with a similar composition of the POSH scaffolding complex may have similarities in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays outlined in this chapter. If this does not occur, this indicates that phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain is not regulating the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL. Another possibility is that there are other types of PTMs on POSH's functional domains that are contributing to the composition and downstream signaling pathway activation or that perhaps another molecule is involved in this process.

3.2.B HBP-ALL

Due to what was observed by Cunningham et al. 2016, I hypothesize that the POSH-mutant HBP-ALL cell lines may have the most changes in regard to POSH function, composition of the scaffolding complex, etc. The HBP-ALL cell line is CD4+CD8+ and due to the CD8+ cell surface expression, I hypothesize that this cell line may have high amounts of PTMs on the modifiable tyrosine residues^{55,56}. It is predicted that by disrupting the phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH SH3.3, there might be an observed loss of JIP-1-dependent activation of JNK1 and instead see Tak-1-dependent activation of JNK1 and JNK2.

3.3.C Jurkat & MOLT-14

As described in **Chapter 2**, the Jurkat and MOLT-14 cell lines are predicted to have little to no phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's functional domains due

to lack of CD8+ cell surface expression and observations made in normal T-cells^{55,56}. Given this prediction, there might be little to no differences between the POSH-mutant and POSH-WT Jurkat/MOLT-14 cell lines. Specifically, if the hypothesis is correct, there might be no change in the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in the POSH mutant Jurkat/MOLT-14 cell lines. No changes in the composition of the POSH scaffolding activation that would be evident by no changes in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays.

It is important to note is that this chapter is specifically examining phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain. This would not determine the impact that other types of PTMs on POSH's functional domains could have in human T-ALL. More analyses would be needed to address this latter point.

3.4 Alternative outcomes

It is possible there will not be significant differences between the POSH-modified and POSH-WT human T-ALL cell lines. Such a result could be due to a couple of possibilities: (1) phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH do not regulate these functions in human T-ALL; and/or (2) there is more POSH-WT protein present than the POSH-modified protein, such as could be possible in a heterozygous modified cell line. If phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH are not regulating these functions in human T-ALL, an <u>alternative hypothesis</u> is that phosphoserine-based modifications on POSH (through the RBD) are contributing to these functions. To test this hypothesis, serine 304^{57,58} will be mutated and replaced with a cysteine residue utilizing the same methodology outlined in this chapter. To test the functional characteristics of this

mutation, the same functional *in vitro* assays outlined in this chapter will be performed. If there is more endogenous POSH-WT protein present than the POSH-modified protein, then a tyrosine-kinase inhibitor can be administered to inhibit phosphorylation on those modifiable residues in the POSH-WT protein, and perhaps some insights could be gained despite the generalizable lack of site-specific targeting of this latter strategy. The same functional *in vitro* assays should be performed as described in this chapter.

3.5 Rigor & reproducibility

Each experiment will be replicated in triplicate to ensure the results of the outlined functional *in vitro* assays in this chapter are accurate. To determine the statistical significance between the POSH-mutant and POSH-WT conditions between each selected human T-ALL cell line, a two-way Student's t-test will be performed. Some results may be normalized to the POSH-WT conditions. To determine the differences between many selected human T-ALL cell lines together, a two-way ANOVA test followed by a Tukey post-hoc test will be performed. All statistical analyses will be performed using Prism GraphPad and I will consider a p-value less than 0.05 to be statistically significant.

CHAPTER 4

DETERMINING THE FUNCTION OF POSH IN HUMAN T-ALL VIA CRISPR POSH-KO

4.1 Gap, hypothesis, & rationale

The main question to be addressed in this chapter is: what is the function of full-length POSH protein in human T-ALL? The Daniels lab has begun to characterize the function of POSH in human T-ALL cell lines through competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain (**Figure 4**). However, POSH's other functional domains are still active and remain open for potential molecular interactions when assembling the scaffolding complex. This means that POSH's full function through all of its functional domains has not yet been characterized in human T-ALL. I propose that this should be accomplished by knocking out POSH protein expression through CRISPR-Cas9 technology and validated guide sequences obtained from the Addgene GeCKO library⁶⁴.

I hypothesize that the POSH scaffolding complex contributes to the hyperactivation of MAPK signaling pathways in human T-ALL. MAPK signaling pathways, such as the JNK signaling pathway, have higher basal phosphorylation in human T-ALL when compared with normal T-cells (observed in Jurkat cell line)¹¹. Scaffolding proteins, such as POSH, have been shown to regulate these signaling pathways^{47,48,51} thus POSH could be a central factor contributing to this aberrant signaling activity in human T-ALL. In addition, competitively inhibiting POSH's SH3.3 domain resulted in a significant decrease in the survival of the human T-ALL cell lines that were tested (**Figure 4**). However, some human T-ALL cell lines were less sensitive suggesting that POSH's scaffolding functions mediated by its SH3.3 domain may be essential for some cell lines, but not for all. Progressing toward the proposed studies, a POSH-KO sgRNA was delivered in Jurkat cells which remained viable and GFP+ two weeks post-transduction (**Figure 6**), allowing enough time for functional *in vitro* assays to be performed to characterize POSH's function.

4.2 Proposed methodology

4.2.A Development of POSH-KO human T-ALL cell lines



POSH-KO T-ALL cell lines will be developed through lentiviral-mediated CRISPR-Cas9 technology. Validated guide sequences obtained from the GeCKO library⁶⁴ (**Table 4**) will be cloned into pLentiCRISPRv2+GFP (Addgene plasmid #82416)⁷⁴. This plasmid features a GFP

reporter gene for selection to validate the delivery of the construct. For virus production, psPAX2 (Addgene plasmid #12260)⁷⁵ and VSV-G (Addgene plasmid #14888)⁷⁶ will be used to develop a lentivirus pseudotyped for VSV-G in HEK293FT producer cells. The cell culture media containing the produced virus will be collected 48 hours post-transfection and used to transduce the selected human T-ALL cell lines. After transduction, GFP expression and survival by LIVE/DEAD Aqua stain will be monitored at 24-, 48-. 72-, and 96-hour time points via flow cytometry.



HEK 293FT

Figure 7. Depiction of delivery of the construct to target human T-ALL cells. HEK293FT cells are transfected with the parent vector carrying the POSH-KO guide sequence, an envelope plasmid, and a packaging plasmid. After 48 hours, the media of the producer cells containing the virus is collected and administered to target T-ALL cells. Created with BioRender.

4.2.B Validation of delivery

Delivery of the construct will be validated by flow cytometry and fluorescent

microscopy through GFP expression. GFP+ cells will undergo fluorescence-activated cell

sorting in a 96-well plate to undergo single-cell isolation followed by *in vitro* expansion.

After single-cell expansion, the genomic DNA will be isolated. Sanger sequencing and

TIDE analysis will be performed for each of the isolates to determine if there was a successful modification of the genomic DNA. To confirm the genetic modifications at the protein level, an immunoblot probing for POSH will be performed. To determine if homozygous-modified human T-ALL cells are dying (if POSH is essential for survival in some of the selected T-ALL cell lines), the genomic DNA will be isolated 24 hours post-transduction, and TIDE analysis will be performed and compared with the single-isolates data to determine the differences in populations.

4.2.C Functional analysis of POSH-KO in human T-ALL cell lines

The same functional *in vitro* assays outlined in **Chapter 2** will be performed to determine the impact POSH-KO has on human T-ALL function and downstream signaling activation. To determine if it is POSH's scaffolding function that contributes to these functions in human T-ALL, the results of the functional *in vitro* assays will be compared with POSH-WT T-ALL cell lines treated with the Tat-POSH inhibitor (treatment with Tat-Control as a control). This is an important control because it will provide a direct comparison between a complete POSH protein expression KO compared to only inhibiting POSH's SH3.3 domain while the other functional domains remain unaffected. If POSH's SH3.3 domain is contributing to the vast majority of these functions, it should be demonstrated by having the results of the functional *in vitro* assays between the POSH-KO and Tat-POSH-treated human T-ALL cell lines being similar.

To further determine the results of the functional *in vitro* assays are due to POSH not being able to activate certain signaling pathways, the results will be compared to POSH-WT human T-ALL cell lines with inhibitors for proteins known to associate with

POSH to form its scaffolding complex (for example, inhibiting JNK signaling activity).

Experimental conditions are shown in Table 5.

Negative Control	Experimental Condition
POSH-WT human T-ALL	POSH-KO human T-ALL
Tat-Control-treated POSH-WT human T-ALL	Tat-POSH-treated POSH-WT T-ALL (to compare with POSH-KO results)

Table 5. Chapter 5 experimental conditions.

4.3 Expected results

4.3.A General

The data that will be collected in this chapter will provide information on how POSH functions in human T-ALL. For validation of the delivery of the construct, it is expected to see GFP+ T-ALL cell lines that are heterozygous and homozygous for the mutation. To characterize the phenotype of each population, the outlined methodology in this chapter will be performed. This is advantageous because it will allow researchers to determine how decreased (heterozygous) and no (homozygous) POSH protein expression impacts human T-ALL signaling function.

In the results of the functional *in vitro* assays, it is hypothesized that there will be a decrease in the activation of certain signaling pathways that POSH is involved in, such as the JNK signaling pathway. The rationale for this anticipation is in reference to where it was demonstrated that POSH is important for regulating JNK activation in lymphocytes^{55,56} and there is high basal phosphorylation on JNK in human T-ALL¹¹. It is also hypothesized that there will be a decrease in Akt and Tak-1 signaling since these are previously known to associate with POSH^{55,56}.

If POSH expression is important for the activation of signaling pathways important for promoting proliferation in human T-ALL, there should be an observed decrease in the dilution of the dye in the membrane of dividing POSH-KO T-ALL cells when performing CFSE labeling. To determine which pathways POSH expression is important for activation, there should be decreased protein expression or PTM level in the signaling activation immunoblots in the POSH-KO T-ALL cells compared to the POSH-WT conditions. The same logic will be applied to the transcription factor activity assays as another way of determining the outcome of signaling activation. If POSH expression is important for activating signaling pathways important for regulating apoptosis activity, there should be decreased expression of the pro- and/or anti-apoptotic markers as well as a decrease in the detected caspase 3/7 in the POSH-KO T-ALL cells vs. POSH-WT conditions. If POSH expression is important for activating pathways that regulate cell cycle entry in human T-ALL, it is hypothesized that there may be a decrease in the percentage of Ki67+ cells in the POSH-KO cells compared to the POSH-WT cells.

4.3.B HBP-ALL

As shown in **Figure 4**, HBP-ALL was the most sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain via the Tat-POSH inhibitor. With this in mind, it is anticipated that there may be difficulty developing POSH-KO HBP-ALL cell lines. To combat this, an alternative strategy is described in *4.4 Alternative outcomes*. If it is possible to develop POSH-KO HBP-ALL cell lines that survive long enough to perform the outlined functional *in vitro* assays, I hypothesize decreased cell cycle entry and proliferation, and

decreased Akt, JNK_a and NF κ B signaling activity. Additionally, it is hypothesized that there will be increased pro-apoptotic activity and caspase activation. Previous observations on signaling activity in the HBP-ALL cell line support these hypotheses^{29,41}.

Additionally, because HBP-ALL was highly sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain, it is possible there will not be HBP-ALL cell lines that are homozygous for the mutation if POSH is essential for survival in this cell line and only heterozygous HBP-ALL cell lines can be developed. The same functional *in vitro* assays can still be performed, but the alternative strategies as described in *4.4 Potential problems & alternative strategies* should also be considered.

4.3.C Jurkat

As shown in **Figure 4**, the Jurkat cell line was moderately sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain. In the pilot study (**Figure 6**), Jurkats were used to develop POSH-KO T-ALL cell lines to determine if they will survive long enough to perform the outlined methodology on them. Given the results of the pilot study, I am confident that the outlined methodology in this chapter will be able to be performed. Additionally, I hypothesize that because the Jurkat cell line was less sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain, there will be the formation of both heterozygous and homozygous POSH-KO Jurkat cell lines.

Since it was previously hypothesized that the Jurkat cell line will have a similar composition of the POSH scaffolding complex as normal CD4+ T-cells, it is further hypothesized that there may be a decrease in Tak-1-dependent activation of JNK1 and JNK2. Tak-1 signaling is important for NF κ B activation and proliferation⁷⁸. If I correctly hypothesized the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex for the Jurkat cell line,

this should be evident in decreased proliferation (via CFSE labeling), and a decrease in NFκB p52 activation via signaling activity immunoblots and transcription factor activity assays. Additionally, Jurkats have higher basal phosphorylation on JNK and Akt⁴¹, and POSH is known to associate with these signaling pathways, so POSH-KO Jurkat cells should have decreased JNK and Akt signaling activation. Lastly, since the Jurkat cell line was tipifarnib-sensitive, POSH-KO Jurkat cell lines are hypothesized to have no changes in ERK1 signaling activation since POSH does not interact with ERK1.

5.3.D MOLT-14

As shown in **Figure 4**, the MOLT-14 cell line was the least sensitive to competitive inhibition of POSH's SH3.3 domain. This indicates that POSH function within this cell line may not prioritize activation of signaling pathways important for survival, proliferation, and apoptosis regulation. If this hypothesis is correct, there may be little to no changes observed in the activation of Akt, NF κ B p52, and the level of pro-apoptotic and/or anti-apoptotic markers. Additionally, there may be no differences in CFSE labeling. Since the MOLT-14 cell line is tipifarnib-sensitive, it is hypothesized that POSH-KO MOLT-14 cell lines will not have a change in ERK-1 signaling activation since POSH has not previously interacted with this molecule. Lastly, if POSH expression is not present, there would be disruption of the POSH scaffolding complex and therefore there should be a decrease in JNK signaling activation.

4.4 Alternative outcomes

Given the results of the pilot study, I am confident that the outlined methodology in this chapter can be performed, at least for some of our selected target cell lines. Even so, there might be difficulties detecting signaling cascade proteins known to associate with POSH. If this occurs, several Abs probing for the same proteins will be administered in a cocktail. Additionally, it is possible that there may not be significant differences between the POSH-WT and POSH-KO T-ALL cell lines in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays. An <u>alternative hypothesis</u> is that there is compensation for POSH function being provided by a homolog called POSH2 (SH3RF3)⁷⁹. To test this hypothesis, POSH2-KO human T-ALL cell lines will be developed using similar methodology and validated guide sequences from the GeCKO library⁶⁴. Multiplex CRISPR assembly should be performed to develop double POSH-POSH2-KO human T-ALL cell lines to test the full extent of the compensation being provided by POSH-2⁸⁰.

It is a possibility that there will be significant differences in the results of the functional *in vitro* assays between POSH-KO and Tat-POSH-treated WT T-ALL cell lines. If this occurs, it is likely that POSH's scaffolding function through its SH3.3 domain is not contributing to these functions. To test this hypothesis, the results of the functional *in vitro* assays of the POSH-KO T-ALL cell lines will be compared with POSH-WT T-ALL cell lines treated with Tat-POSH inhibitors that competitively inhibit POSH's other SH3 domains.

Lastly, if POSH is essential for function for some of the selected human T-ALL cell lines, they might not survive long enough to perform the functional *in vitro* assays to characterize function. It is also possible that specific cell lines will not be homozygous for the POSH-KO. To circumvent this, CRISPR-activate (pLV-hUbC-VP64 dCas9 VP64-T2A-GFP Addgene plasmid #59791)⁸¹ and CRISPR-repress (pLenti-dCas9-KRAB-blast Addgene plasmid #89567)⁸² techniques can be performed to

characterize the function of POSH in human T-ALL by either increasing or interfering with the transcription of POSH respectively. This is advantageous because these techniques involving dCas9 do not permanently modify the genomic DNA since dCas9 can bind to but not cleave the target DNA⁸³. After validating the delivery of the construct, the same functional *in vitro* assays outlined in this chapter could be performed.

4.5 Rigor & reproducibility

Each experiment will be replicated in triplicate to ensure the results of the outlined functional *in vitro* assays in this chapter are accurate. To determine the statistical significance between the POSH-KO and POSH-WT conditions between each selected human T-ALL cell line, a two-way Student's t-test will be performed. Some results may be normalized to the POSH-WT conditions. To determine the differences between multiple selected human T-ALL cell lines together, a two-way ANOVA test followed by a Tukey post-hoc test will be performed. All statistical analyses will be performed using Prism GraphPad and we will consider a p-value less than 0.05 to be statistically significant.

CHAPTER 5

POTENTIAL IMPACT OF PROPOSED RESEARCH

To date, the vast majority of studies investigating POSH function in normal T-cells have focused primarily on the composition of the scaffolding complex and its downstream effects. In contrast, few studies have focused on POSH function in leukemic T-cells or expanded on possibly unique combinations of members of the formation of the scaffolding complex. With the use of the Daniels lab's novel Tat-POSH inhibitor and CRISPR-Cas techniques, results from experiments in this proposal will provide new insights on several levels: (1) the composition and function of the POSH scaffolding complex between different types of human T-ALL cell lines; (2) the extent to which phosphotyrosine-based modifications on POSH's SH3.3 domain regulate the composition of the POSH scaffolding complex in human T-ALL; and (3) how important full-length POSH expression is for human T-ALL survival, proliferation, signaling activation, apoptosis, cell cycle entry, etc.

I anticipate that this proposed research will provide a foundational basis for future studies involving primary human T-ALL samples that will allow us to further understand the biological relevance of our potential findings. However, there are several steps that need to be completed in order to reach that future point in the field.

The nature of this proposed research would be performed primarily in an *in vitro* model–human T-ALL cell lines. The potential results and conclusions made from this proposed research would provide the necessary details in order to design *in vivo* experiments with mice. In regard to developing POSH-KO mice, there are already

validated guide sequences provided by the Addgene GeCKO library⁶⁴ that can be utilized to develop a construct, and Daniels lab is well into POSH-KO mouse work. I propose to perform similar experiments to those proposed here, using a fully developed POSH-KO mouse model to further characterize POSH function when it can be applied to T-ALL development and therapeutics.

Once *in vivo* experiments are performed and analyzed, this would potentially provide a foundational basis for similar experiments involving the collection of the primary human T-ALL samples. The benefit of performing these proposed experiments on primary human T-ALL samples is that it might provide diverse profiles of T-ALL disease state thus contributing to the information needed to identify markers within the human T-ALL signaling pathways that can be used for personalized therapies. For example, it is expected that with the diverse types of human T-ALL, there would potentially be different molecular targets. Identifying these potential molecular targets would open up the possibility of performing more studies determining the impact of targeting the identified molecules in the various types of human T-ALL.

In summary, the proposed research in this document would mark the beginning of the much-needed investigation of determining if POSH or other types of markers can be used in personalized therapies for treatment of T-ALL. Although there is a significant amount of research that would need to be conducted to reach that future point in the field, beginning with the proposed research in this document would be an excellent start.

REFERENCES

[1] Hefazi M, Litzow MR. Recent advances in the biology and treatment of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2018;13:265-274.

[2] Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, Bloomfield CD, et al. The 2016 world revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127:2391-2406.

[3] Marks DI, Paietta EM, Moorman AV, Richards SM, Buck G, DeWald G, et al. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: clinical features, immunophenotype, cytogenetic, and outcome from the large randomized prospective trial (UKALL XII/ECOG 2993). Blood. 2009;114(25):5136-45.

[4] Gaynon PS, Harris RE, Altman AJ, Bostrom BC, Breneman JC, Hawks R, et al. Bone marrow transplantation versus prolonged intensive chemotherapy for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and an initial bone marrow relapse within 12 months of the completion of primary therapy: Children's Oncology Group study CCG-1941. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(19):3150-3156.

[5] Ko RH, Ji L, Barnette P, Bostrom B, Hutchinson R, Raetz E, et al. Outcome of patients treated for relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a therapeutic advances in Childhood Leukemia Consortium study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(4):648–54.
[6] Samra B, Alotaibi AS, Short NJ, Khoury JD, Ravandi F, Garris R, et al. Outcome of adults with relapsed/refractory T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia or lymphoblastic leukemia or lymphoblastic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2020;95(9):E245–E247.

[7] Cleveland Clinic. Thymus; [updated 2023; accessed 2023 Mar 30].

https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/body/23016-thymus.

[8] Kumar BV, Connors T, Farber DL. Human T cell development, localization, and function throughout life. Immunity. 2018;48:202-213.

[9] Decker JM. Immunology: T Cell Development. [updated 2023; accessed 2023 Mar

30]. https://www2.nau.edu/~fpm/immunology/Exams/Tcelldevelopment-401.html

[10] Stritesky GL, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. Selection of self-reactive T cells in the thymus. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:95-114.

[11] Perbellini O, Cavallini C, Chignola R, Galasso M, Scupoli MT. Phospho-specificglow cytometry reveals signaling heterogeneity in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia.Cells. 2022;2072.

[12] Smith-Garvin JE, Koretzky GA, and Jordan MS. T cell activation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2009;27:591-619.

[13] Davis RJ. Signal transduction by the JNK group of kinases. Cell. 2000;239-252.

[14] Dong C, Davis RJ, and Flavell RA. MAP kinases in the immune response. Annu.Rev. Immunol. 2022;20:55-72.

[15] Hess, P, Pihan G, Sawyers CL, Flavell RA, Davis RJ. Survival signaling mediated by C-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase in transformed in B lymphoblasts. Nat. Genet. 2002;32: 201-205.

[16] Gururajan M, Chui R, Karuppannan AK, Ke J, Jennings CD, Bondada S. C-JunN-Terminal Kinase (JNK) is required for survival and proliferation of B-lymphoma cells.Blood. 2005;106:1382-1391.

[17] Hideshima T, Hayashi T, Chauhan D, Akiyama M, Richardson P, Anderso K.

Biologic Sequelae of C-Jun NH2-terminal Kinase (JNK) activation in multiple myeloma cell lines. Oncogene. 2003;22:8797-8801.

[18] Cui J, Wang Q, Wang J, Lv M, Zhu N, Li Y, Feng J, Shen B, Zhang J. Basal C-Jun NH2-Terminal Protein Kinase activity is essential for survival and proliferation of T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells. Mol. Cancer Ther. 2009;8:3214-3222.

[19] Chen TJ, Du W, Junco JJ, Bridges CS, Shen Y, Puppi M, Rabin KR, Lacorazza, HD.
Inhibition of the MAP2K7-JNK pathway with 5Z-7-Oxozeaenol induces apoptosis in
T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Oncotarget. 2021;12:1787-1801.

[20] Singh DK, Kumar D, Siddiqui Z, Basu SK, Kumar V, Rao KVS. The strength of receptor signaling is centrally controlled through a cooperative loop between Ca2+ and an oxidant signal. Cell. 2005;121:281-293.

[21] Zhang J, et al. The genetic basis of early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nature. 2012;481:157-163.

[22] Goemans BF, et al. *In vitro* profiling of the sensitivity of pediatric leukemia cells to tipifarnib: identification of T-cell ALL and FAB M5 AML as the most sensitive subsets. Blood. 2005;106:3532-3537.

[23] Karp JE, et al. Clinical and biologic activity of the farnesyltransferase inhibitor R115777 in adults with refractory and relapsed acute leukemias: a phase I clinical-laboratory correlative trial. Blood. 2001;97:3361-3369.

[24] O'Reagan R and Khuri F. Farnesyl transferase inhibitors: the next targeted therapies for breast cancer? Endocrine-Related Cancer; 2004;11:191-205.

[25] End DW, et al. Characterization of the antitumor effects if the selective farnesyl protein transferase inhibitor R115777 *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Cancer research.2001;61:131-137.

[26] Sebti SM. Protein farnesylation: implications for normal physiology, malignant transformation, and cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2005;7:297-300.

[27] Epling-Burnette PK and Loughran TP Jr. Suppression of farnesyltransferase activity in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome: current understanding and recommended use of tipifarnib. Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs. 2010;19:689-698.

[28] Venet M, End D, and Angibaud P. Farnesyl protein transferase inhibitor

ZARNESTRA R115777-History of a discovery. Current Topics in Medicinal Chenmistry. 2003;3:1095-1102.

[29] Alonso-Alonso R, Mondejar R, Martinez N, Garcia-Diaz N, Perez C. Identification of tipifarnib biomarkers in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and T-cell lymphoma. Nature–SCIENTIFIC REPORTS. 2020;10:6721.

[30] Sara González-García, María L Toribio. Notch 1 signalling in human T-cell development and leukemia. Immunology. 2009;28(4):193-208.

[31] Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris JP, Silverman LB, et al. Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Science. 2004;306:269-271.

[32] Chan SM, Weng AP, Tibishirani R, Aster JC, Utz PJ, et al. Notch signals positively regulate activity of the mTOR pathway in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2007;110:278-286.

[33] Vilimas T, Mascarenhas J, Palomero T, et al. Targeting the NFkB signaling pathway in Notch1-induced T-cell leukemia. Nat Med 2007;13:70-77.

[34] Palomero T, Lim WK, Odom DT, et al. NOTCH1 directly regulates c-MYC and activates a feed-forward-loop transcriptional network promoting leukemic cell growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2006;103:18261-18266.

[35] Sharma VM, Calvo JA, Draheim KM et al. Notch1 contributes to mouse T-cell leukemia by directly inducing the expression of c-myc. Mol Cell Biol.2006;26:8022-8031.

[36] Weng AP, Millholland JM, Yashiro-Ohtani Y, et al. c-Myc is an important direct target of Notch1 in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma. Genes Dev. 2006;20:2096-2109.

[37] Dose M, Khan I, Guo Z, Kovalovsky D, Krueger A, von Boehmer H, et al. c-Myc mediates pre-TCR-induced proliferation but not developmental progression. Blood. 2006;108:2669-2677.

[38] Palomeri T, Sulis ML, Cortina M, Real PJ, Barnes K, et al. Mutational loss of PTEN induces resistance to NOTCH1 inhibition in T-cell leukemia. Nat Med.

2007;13:1203-1210.

[39] Silva A, Yunes JA, Cardoso BA, Martins LR, Jotta PY, et al. PTEN posttranslational inactivation and hyperactivation of the P13K/Akt pathway sustain primary T cell leukemia viability. J Clin Investig. 2008;118:3762-3774.

[40] Gutierrez A, Sanda T, Grebliunaite R, Carracedo A, Salmena L, et al. High frequency of PTEN, P13K, and AKT abnormalities in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2009;114:647-650.

REFERENCES

[41] Bongiovanni D, Saccomani V, Piovan E. Aberrant signaling pathways in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Int J of Mol Sci. 2017;18:1904.

[42] Kordes U, Krappmann D, Heissmeyer V, Ludwig WD, Schiedereit, et al.Transcription factor NFkB is constitutively activated in acute lymphoblastic leukemiacells. Leukemia. 2000;14:399-402.

[43] Poglio S, Cahu X, Uzan B, Besnard-Guerin C, Lapillone H, et al. Rapid childhoodT-ALL growth in xenograft models correlates with mature phenotype and NF-kBpathway activation but not with poor prognosis. Leukemia. 2015:29:977-980.

[44] Thompson BJ, Buonamici S, Sulis ML, et al. The SCFFBW7 ubiquitin ligase
complex as a tumor suppressor in T cell leukemia. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1813-1824.
[45] Shin HM, Minter LM, Cho OH, et al. Notch1 augments NF-kappa-B activity by
facilitating its nuclear retention. EMBO J. 2006;25:129-138.

[46] Staal FTJ, Langerak AW. Signaling pathways involved in the development of T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leaukemia. Haematologica. 2008;93(4):493-497.

[47] Shaw AS, and Filbert EL. Scaffold proteins and immune cell signaling. Nat. Rev.Immunol. 2009;9:47-56.

[48] Whitmarsh AJ. The JIP family of MAPK scaffold proteins. Biochem. Soc. Trans.2006;34:828-832.

[49] Henrich E, Lohr F, Mezhyrova J, Laguerre A, Bernhard F, et al. Chapter 6 – Synthetic biology-based solution NMR studies on membrane protein in lipid environments. 2019;614:143-185.

[50] Whitmarsh AJ, Cavanagh J, Tournier C, Yasuda J, Davis RJ. A mammalian scaffold complex that selectively mediates MAP kinase activation. Science. 1998;281:1671-1674.

[51] Tapon N, Nagata K, Lamarche N, and Hall A. A new rac target POSH is an SH3-containing scaffold protein involved in the JNK and NFkB signaling pathways. EMBO J. 1998;1395-1404.

[52] McDonald PH, Chow CW, Miller WE, Laporte SA, Field ME, Lin FT, Davis RJ et al. Beta-arrestin 2: a receptor-regulated MAPK scaffold for the activation of JNK3.Science. 2000;290:1574-1577.

[53] Blonska M, and Lin X. CARMA1-mediated NFkB and JNK activation in lymphocytes. Immunol. Rev. 2009;228:199-211.

[54] Blonska M, Pappu BP, Matsumoto R, Li H, Su B, Wang D, and Lin X. The CARMA1-Bcl10 signaling complex selectively regulates JNK2 kinase in the T cell receptor signaling pathway. Immunity. 2007;26:55-66.

[55] Cunningham CA, Knudson KM, Peng BJ, Teixeiro E, Daniels MA. The POSH/JIP-1 scaffold network regulates TCR-mediated JNK1 signals and effector function in CD8+ T cells. The European Journal of Immunology. 2013;43:3361-3371.

[56] Cunningham CA, Cardwell LN, Guan Y, Teixeiro E, and Daniels MA. POSH regulates CD4+ T cell differentiation and survival. The Journal of Immunology. 2016;196:4003-4013.

[57] Figueroa C, Tarras S, Taylor J, Vojtek AB. Akt2 negatively regulates assembly of POSH-MLK-JNK signaling complex. J. Biol. Chem. 2003;278:47922-47927.

[58] Lyons TR, Thorburn J, Ryan PW, Thorburn A, Anderson SM, Kassenbrock CK.Regulation of the pro-apoptotic scaffolding protein POSH by Akt. J. Biol. Chem.2007;282:21987-21997.

[59] Kukekov NV, Xu Z, Greene LA. Direct interaction of the molecular scaffolds POSH and JIP is required for apoptotic activation of JNKs. J. Biol. Chem.

2006;281:15517-15524.

[60] Christian PA, Fiandalo MV, and Schwarze SR. Possible role of death receptor-mediated apoptosis by the E3 ubiquitin ligases Siah2 and POSH. Molecular Cancer. 2011;10:57.

[61] Lapointe J, Li C, Higgins JP, van de Rijn M, Bair E, Montgomery K, Ferrari M, Egevad L, Rayford W, Bergerheim U, et al. Gene expression profiling identities clinically relevant subtypes of prostate cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004;101:811-816.

[62] Vanaja DK, Cheville JC, Iturria SJ, Young CY. Transcriptional silencing of zinc finger protein 185 identified by expression profiling is associated with prostate cancer progression. Cancer Res. 2003;63:3877-3882.

[63] Tomlins SA, Mehra R, Rhodes DR, Cao X, Wang L, Dhanasekaran SM,

Kalyana-Sundaram S, Wei JT, Rubin MA, Pienta KJ, et al. Integrative molecular concept modeling of prostate cancer progression. Nat genet. 2007;39:41-51.

[64] Sanjana NE, Shalem O, Zhang F. Improved vectors and genome-wide libraries for CRISPR screening. Nat Methods. 2014;11(8):783-784.

[65] Chiaretti S, Brugnoletti F, Tavolaro S, Bonina S, Paoloni F, et al. TP53 mutations are frequent in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia cases negative for recurrent fusion genes and correlate with poor response to induction therapy. Haematologica.

2013;98(5):e59-e61.

[66] Yeh CH, Bellon M, Nicot C. FBXW7: a critical tumor suppressor of human cancers.Mol Cancer. 2018;17(115).

[67] Gonzalez-Garcia S, Toribio ML. Notch1 signalling in human T-cell development and leukemia. Immunology. 2009;28(4):193-208.

[68] Shan X, Czar MJ, Bunnell SC, Liu P, Schwartzberg PL, et al. Deficiency of PTEN in Jurkat T cells causes constitutive localization of Itk to the plasma membrane and hyperresponsiveness to CD3 stimulation. Mol and Cell Biol. 2000;20(18).

[69] Palomero T, Sulis ML, Cortina M, Real PJ, Barnes K, et al. Mutational loss of PTEN induces resistance to NOTCH1 inhibition in T-cell leukemia. Nat Med.

2007;13(10):1203-1210.

[70] Schumm K, Rocha S, Caamano J, Perkins ND. Regulation of p53 tumor suppressor target gene expression by the p52 NF-kB subunit. EMBO J. 2006;25(20):4820-4832.

[71] Quentmeier H, Pommerenke C, Dirks WG, Eberth S, Koeppel M, et al. The LL-100 panel: 100 cell lines for blood cancer studies. Scientific reports. 2019;9:8218.

[72] Synthego. New kid on the block: prime editing as a precision gene editing tool. [updated 2023; accessed Mar 30 2023].

[73] Doman JL, Sousa AA, Randolph PB, Chen PJ, Liu DR. Designing and executing prime editing experiments in mammalian cells. Nature protocols. 2022;17:2431-2468.
[74] Walter DM, Venancio OS, Buza EL, Tobias JW, Deshpande C, et al. Systematic in vivo inactivation of chromatin regulating enzymes identifies Setd2 as a potent tumor suppressor in lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res. 2017;77(7):1719-1729.

[75] Addgene. PsPAX2. [updated 2023; accessed Dec 2022]. <u>https://www.addgene.org/12260/</u>
[76] Reta T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC. A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2003;423(6938):409-414.

[77] Invitrogen. LIVE/DEAD Fixable Aqua Dead Cell Stain Kit, for 405 nm excitation. [updated 2023; accessed Mar 30 2023].

https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/L34957?gclid=CjwKCAjw6IiiBhAOEiwAL NqncS97BkvXlcs264Q5RD-0yBaQkMWe3AZEvKm5kPssA8gIXkW5O0c9GRoCneYQAvD_B wE&s_kwcid=AL!3652!3!606658601267!e!!g!!live%20dead%20aqua%20stain&ef_id=CjwKCA jw6IiiBhAOEiwALNqncS97BkvXlcs264Q5RD-0yBaQkMWe3AZEvKm5kPssA8gIXkW5O0c9 GRoCneYQAvD_BwE:G:s&s_kwcid=AL!3652!3!606658601267!e!!g!!live%20dead%20aqua% 20stain!381166034!75094237911&cid=bid_pca_frg_r01_co_cp1359_pjt0000_bid00000_0se_ga w bt_pur_con

[78] Mihaly SR, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Morioka S. TAK1 control of death. Nature.

2014;21:1667-1676.

[79] Zhang P, Liu Y, Lian C, Cao X, Wang Y, et al. SH3RF3 promotes breast cancer stem-like properties via JNK activation and PTX3 upregulation. *Nat. Commun.* 2020. 11(1): 2487.

[80] Yamamoto T. Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9 Assembly Systems. *Addgene*. 2022. Catalog number: 1000000055.

[81] Kabadi AM, Ousterout DG, Hilton IB, Gerbach CA. Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-based genome engineering from a single lentiviral vector. 2014. *Nucleic Acids Res.* pii: gku749

[82] Xie S, Duan J, Li B, Zhou P, Hon GC. Multiplexed engineering and analysis of

combinatorial enhancer activity in single cells. 2017. Mol. Cell. 66(2): 285-299.

[83] Addgene. CRISPR Guide: Activation or repression of target genes using CRISPR. 2022.